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          1  TRANSPORTATION AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's joint hearing of the Committees

          4  on Transportation and Technology in Government.  My

          5  name is John Liu.  I have the privilege of Chairing

          6  the Transportation Committee and will soon be joined

          7  by Council Member Gale Brewer, the Chairperson of

          8  the Technology in Government Committee.  We've

          9  convened today's hearing for the purpose of

         10  examining the Metropolitan Transportation

         11  Authority's Plans to install cell phone service in

         12  the subway system.

         13                 On September 19, 2007, the MTA

         14  announced that it had entered into a contract with a

         15  company named Transit Wireless to wire subway

         16  platforms for cell phone services.  This contract

         17  would not cost the MTA anything and instead Transit

         18  Wireless would pay the costs of installing the

         19  system, estimated by the MTA to cost between 150 to

         20  200 million dollars, and pay the MTA $46.8 million

         21  over the next ten years.  Transit Wireless would

         22  make money by charging cell phone companies to

         23  access its system.  Transit Wireless was chosen by

         24  the MTA because it would pay the most to the MTA for

         25  the right to wire the subway stations.
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          2                 Many New Yorkers have been calling

          3  for cell phone service in the subways for quite some

          4  time.  Providing cell phone and wireless services

          5  may have many benefits for people in the system, as

          6  well as visitors to the City using the subways.  It

          7  will allow subway riders to communicate with family,

          8  friends, and conduct business where they were not

          9  able to do so before with possible service

         10  disruptions from severe weather, blackouts, acts of

         11  people, some people always want to be in contact

         12  with their family, friends and associates.  Cell

         13  phone service may encourage new riders on the

         14  system.  I know some people who currently will not

         15  ride the subways because they simply cannot afford

         16  to be out of touch for business and other reasons.

         17  There are many purposes related to emergency

         18  situations where cell phone service is absolutely

         19  necessary and that is a point that has been

         20  emphasized by our colleague in government,

         21  Congressman Anthony Weiner, for quite some time now

         22  as well.

         23                 On the other hand, some subway riders

         24  like being underground because it's somewhat of a

         25  refuge from listening to people on their cell phones
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          2  and from watching them txting on their Blackberries.

          3  These people may not be too happy about cell phone

          4  service in the subways.

          5                 Nonetheless, it is 2007 and it

          6  appears that we are finally on the cusp of getting

          7  cell phone service in the subway system and during

          8  this hearing we will examine the benefits and

          9  possible detriments to having cell phone service in

         10  the subways.  We'll also look at the capabilities of

         11  the proposed cell phone system and its limitations.

         12                 We're joined by Council Members Joe

         13  Addabbo from Queens, Diana Reyna from Brooklyn and

         14  Queens, Oliver Koppell from the Bronx and Jessica

         15  Lappin from Manhattan and Melinda Katz from Queens.

         16  We're looking forward to having a productive

         17  conversation on this topic.

         18                 I want to thank the staff to the

         19  Committees, Phil Hom, Counsel to the Transportation

         20  Committee; Ron Kim, Policy Analyst to the

         21  Transportation Committee; and Chima Obichere,

         22  Finance Analyst to the Transportation Committee;

         23  Jeff Baker, Counsel to the Technology in Government

         24  Committee; and Colleen Pagter, Policy Analyst for

         25  the Technology in Government Committee.
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          2                 At this point, it's our pleasure to

          3  invite to the witness table officials from the

          4  Metropolitan Transportation Authority, Jerome Page,

          5  Mark Bienstock, and, of course, our beloved Lois

          6  Tenler is certainly welcome to join us.  Come on,

          7  don't you want to come up to the table?  Rob, you're

          8  welcome to come up, if you like.

          9                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         10  joining us this morning.  Please proceed when you're

         11  ready, and press the button once.

         12                 MR. PAGE:  Good morning, Chairperson

         13  Liu, and Members of the City Council's Committee on

         14  Technology in Government and Committee on

         15  Transportation.  I am Jerome Page, Deputy General

         16  Counsel for the Metropolitan Transportation

         17  Authority.  I'm accompanied today by MTA New York

         18  City Transit's Mark Bienstock, Program Manager for

         19  Communications.  As requested by the Council, we're

         20  here this morning to discuss cell phone service in

         21  the subway system.

         22                 As you are probably aware, NYCT

         23  entered into a License Agreement last month for the

         24  design, build, operation and maintenance of a

         25  wireless communications access system, what we call
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          2  a WiCom System, for the underground portion of the

          3  subway.  It was in late 2004 that the MTA and NYCT

          4  began exploring the feasibility of implementing

          5  cellular service in NYCT's 277 underground subway

          6  stations as a means of serving our customers better,

          7  generating additional revenue and enhancing public

          8  safety with the provision of an E911 capability.  I

          9  should note that the above ground portions of the

         10  system are already served by existing wireless

         11  carrier facilities.

         12                 Prior to issuing a Request for

         13  Proposals the decision was made to make cellular

         14  service available in all the public areas of our

         15  underground stations, including entrance ways,

         16  mezzanines, platforms and pedestrian passageways,

         17  but not in the tunnels between the stations.  The

         18  basic premise of the cell phone service initiative

         19  was to provide a service to customers and to

         20  generate revenue, while at the same time, minimizing

         21  impact on train operations.  MTA and NYCT senior

         22  management concluded early on that providing service

         23  in the tunnels would not meet these combined

         24  objectives, partly out of concern that the customer

         25  environment on the trains would be diminished, but
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          2  primarily because it would require that equipment be

          3  installed and maintained along the right- of- way,

          4  necessitating extensive disruptions to customer

          5  service.  Although the current License Agreement

          6  does not provide for cellular service in the

          7  tunnels, it does provide for the system to be built

          8  in such a way as not to preclude expansion into the

          9  tunnels if a future decision to that effect is made.

         10    It is worth noting that under the stations- only

         11  implementation that we are planning, service may be

         12  available in some portions of the tunnels due to

         13  leakage into the tunnel spaces where stations are

         14  located in close proximity or there is no curvature

         15  in the alignment.  However, in the stretches of the

         16  under- river tunnel where stations are situated some

         17  distance apart, there will likely be no coverage.

         18                 To build and maintain this cellular

         19  network in our underground stations, a License

         20  Agreement for the WiCom Network with a base term of

         21  10 years was awarded to Transit Wireless, LLC.

         22  Transit Wireless is a New York limited liability

         23  company that was organized in 2005 and whose members

         24  include Dianet Underground, LLC, NAB Q Wireless,

         25  LLC, and Transit Technologies, LLC.  This firm was
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          2  selected via an RFP process that commenced in August

          3  2005 and ultimately yielded proposals from four

          4  respondents.  From among these four firms, TW was

          5  recommended for license awarded by a Selection

          6  Committee comprised of NYCT and MTA personnel. TW

          7  was in many ways an obvious choice because it

          8  offered the highest revenue; agreed to cover all of

          9  the NYCT costs for implementation; met all the

         10  requirements of the NYCT's specifications; had a

         11  track record for providing similar services to

         12  others and evidenced credible financial backing.

         13                 As the Licensee, TW will design,

         14  operate, build and maintain the WiCom infrastructure

         15  and sublicense the right to use the network to the

         16  wireless carriers and to other sublicensees such as

         17  WiFi providers.  The License Agreement with TW

         18  provides for the project to be undertaken in three

         19  phases:

         20                 The first phase is what we call the

         21  initial build or initial term.  Within two years

         22  from notice to proceed, TW must complete

         23  installation of the WiCom network in six subway

         24  stations: Those are the 23rd Street C and E, and

         25  14th Street A, C and E stations on the Eighth Avenue

                                                            11

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  line; the Eighth Avenue and Sixth Avenue L line

          3  stations; the 14th Street F station on the Sixth

          4  Avenue line; and the 14th Street 1, 2 and 3 station

          5  on the Seventh Avenue line  This phase will serve as

          6  a pilot, during which the cellular infrastructure

          7  for the entire project will be engineered, installed

          8  and tested.  In addition, TW must begin the process

          9  of identifying and sublicensing carriers.  Before

         10  starting the next phase, TW must have a binding

         11  commitment with at least one of the major wireless

         12  carriers for a sublicense for the full WiCom

         13  network.

         14                 The next phase is what we call the

         15  full build or the construction term.  Within four

         16  years from completion of the initial build, TW must

         17  complete installation of the WiCom network on the

         18  remaining 271 underground subway stations.  NYCT

         19  must approve the order in which the underground

         20  stations will be outfitted within the WiCom network

         21  and NYCT has made it clear to TW that the order will

         22  be established in a way that will ensure that

         23  installation is fairly spread across all of the

         24  boroughs.

         25                 After the full build, TW will have a
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          2  ten year base term and options for two five year

          3  renewal terms.

          4                 The best estimates are the cost of

          5  installing the WiCom Network and the 277 underground

          6  stations is between 150 and 200 million dollars.

          7  None of the costs of the construction will be paid

          8  by NYCT or MTA.  TW and MTA's compensation for the

          9  WiCom Network will come from the rent paid by the

         10  wireless carriers and other sublicensees of this

         11  network.  However, TW has agreed to pay MTA a

         12  minimum annual compensation.  During the ten-year

         13  base term, and any renewal terms, MTA will receive

         14  an annual license fee equal to the greater of $3

         15  million, which gets escalated annually by CPI, or 50

         16  percent of the rent received by TW from the carriers

         17  and other users of the WiCom network.

         18                 Prior to the base term, once rent

         19  starts to be paid by a sublicensee, the guaranteed

         20  minimum annual compensation is prorated by the

         21  number of stations that have been put into

         22  commercial service.

         23                 For example, if during year two of

         24  the Construction Term the average number of stations

         25  in commercial service is 100, then the guaranteed
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          2  minimum annual compensation for year two is the $3

          3  million guaranteed minimum, escalated by CPI, times

          4  the fraction 100 divided by 277.

          5                 TW's financial models indicate that

          6  the compensation to the MTA could be as much as $10

          7  million in the first year of the base term and

          8  increase to as much as $16 million in the tenth year

          9  of the base term.

         10                 Beyond its revenue-generating

         11  potential, this project, when completed, will

         12  provide our customers with an overall ability to

         13  keep in contact with family members, business

         14  colleagues and employers while they are in

         15  underground stations.

         16                 The WiCom network will provide for

         17  data and internet capability via the carriers, in

         18  addition to telephone communications.  TW also

         19  expects to establish sublicense arrangements with

         20  WiFi providers to give customers additional data and

         21  internet access.

         22                 This broad array of communications

         23  resources will enable customers that are in

         24  underground subway stations to send and receive text

         25  messages and email, and to access the internet.
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          2  This is an important service enhancement, providing

          3  the convenience and sense of security underground

          4  for which many of our subway customers have long

          5  clamored.

          6                 Underground cellular phone service

          7  and the data and internet access will provide an

          8  additional vehicle for communications to customers

          9  during service disruptions or delays.

         10                 For instance, NYCT will have the

         11  capability to text or email service alerts to

         12  subscribing customers while they are in underground

         13  stations whenever there are major service

         14  disruptions, an outreach service for which planning

         15  is currently underway. Customers with internet

         16  access will be able to log into the MTA website to

         17  review service alert information.

         18                 In addition, our license agreement

         19  with TW requires that each sublicensed carrier

         20  provide E911 service that is fully equivalent to the

         21  E911 systems that they provide above ground in New

         22  York City.  As such, the E911 service in the

         23  underground will meet all FCC requirements, one of

         24  which is to give emergency responders the capability

         25  to track the location from which a customer is
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          2  calling 911.  In the case of subway stations, the

          3  level of locational precision will be dependent upon

          4  each carrier's actual implementation but it is

          5  anticipated that in all cases the E911 system will

          6  be able to identify the specific platform from which

          7  the call is being made.

          8                 Another benefit of underground cell

          9  phone service is that it will enable customers to

         10  provide on- the- spot reports of suspicious activity

         11  or circumstances that they observe in subway

         12  stations, providing opportunities for even more

         13  support of MTA's already successful, If you See

         14  Something, Say Something, campaign which encourages

         15  customers to actively participate in monitoring the

         16  safety and security of the subway system.

         17                 Clearly, there's much to be gained

         18  with the addition of underground subway wireless

         19  network service, in terms of both customer

         20  communication benefits, as well as significant

         21  revenue generation.  We are very excited at the

         22  overall potential that this initiative holds and

         23  will keep you abreast of our progress during its

         24  implementation.

         25                 On behalf of MTA and NYCT, thank you
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          2  for providing a forum for the discussion of this

          3  important topic and for your ongoing interest in our

          4  public transit system.  Mr. Bienstock and I are

          5  happy to answer any questions that you have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, thank you

          7  very much for your testimony.

          8                 Let me note that we've also been

          9  joined by Council Member Simcha Felder from

         10  Brooklyn, and Council Member Miguel Martinez from

         11  Manhattan.  And we've been joined by my esteemed

         12  Co-Chair, Council Member Gale Brewer, Chairperson of

         13  the Technology in Government Committee.

         14                 Well, thank you very much for the

         15  testimony.  We do have a number of questions for

         16  you.  First, as I said earlier, I personally welcome

         17  the addition of cell phone service in the subway

         18  system, but there has been quite a bit of discussion

         19  over whether people really want to have cell phone

         20  service in the subways or not.  Has the MTA

         21  conducted any kind of survey or gauged the demand

         22  for cell phone service in the subways in any way?

         23                 MR. PAGE:  I'm personally not aware

         24  of that initiative.

         25                 Mark?
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          2                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  I'm not aware of any

          3  market research that has been done.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So it's just

          5  generally assumed that people would want to have

          6  cell service in the subways?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  I think that's right.

          8  Obviously, the proposers who proposed, you know, are

          9  experts in the field and did some evaluation and

         10  based their proposals on what they saw as the market

         11  demand.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So the assumption

         13  there is that there is market demand for cell

         14  service, otherwise nobody would be interested in

         15  providing that service.

         16                 MR. PAGE:  I think that's right,

         17  correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You've contracted

         19  with Transit Wireless, TW, and TW doesn't actually

         20  have any cell subscribers, so what would happen if

         21  someone had a cell phone; how do they actually

         22  access Transit Wireless's network in the subway

         23  system?

         24                 MR. PAGE:  Transit Wireless is what

         25  is known in the industry as a neutral host.  They
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          2  are going to, in this case, fund and build the

          3  initial build of the six subway stations with the

          4  network facilities and they will be fully tested,

          5  and during the course of that initial build, they

          6  will be negotiating with the major wireless

          7  carriers.  The expectation is that they will reach

          8  agreement with all of them, but they have an

          9  obligation to reach agreement with at least one of

         10  them by the end of the initial build to provide

         11  service over the network.  And they will then,

         12  assuming that they do reach an agreement with at

         13  least one of the carriers, move into the full build,

         14  which is the build out of the 271 subway stations.

         15  And they are going to be negotiating with each of

         16  the carriers on a market basis to get them to

         17  sublicense service over this network.  So it's

         18  possible that you would get only one or two of the

         19  carriers that will agree to go forward with an

         20  arrangement with Transit Wireless.  Although it is

         21  our expectation that once one or two of the carriers

         22  are in the system, the customer demand will be such

         23  that all the carriers will have to participate.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So at this point

         25  there is no guarantee that any of the cell phone
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          2  service providers would actually buy into it,

          3  although the expectation is that at least one, if

          4  not all of them, would do so in the future?

          5                 MR. PAGE:  That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And yet there has

          7  been no survey or modeling done to gauge the actual

          8  demand?

          9                 MR. PAGE:  Not that I'm aware by MTA

         10  or the New York City Transit Authority, but again, I

         11  would assume that the proposers who spent a lot of

         12  money during the proposal process and then are going

         13  to be investing a substantial amount of money have

         14  done that research.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, and the

         16  cell phone subscribers, is there any anticipation

         17  that they would have to pay additional charges for

         18  services that allow them access in the subways?

         19                 MR. PAGE:  I don't believe --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Or is that left to

         21  market chance?

         22                 MR. PAGE:  I don't believe there --

         23  my understanding is that there would be no

         24  additional charge.  The phone call, you can start on

         25  the street, carry it through walking down the stairs
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          2  into the subway mezzanine, through the turnstiles,

          3  so there will be no distinction between a phone call

          4  on the street and a phone call in the underground

          5  system.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, no

          7  distinction for the subscriber using the cell phone

          8  during that conversation, but of course the systems

          9  will track where the signals are being received and

         10  transmitted from.

         11                 MR. PAGE:  I don't think there's any

         12  expectation that there would be any additional

         13  charge, or different charge for a phone service in

         14  the subway system versus on the street.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Just one

         16  more question about the demand aspect, the consumer

         17  demand; in your testimony you talked about customer

         18  service, as well as additional revenue, but it seems

         19  like this is a good opportunity for the MTA to

         20  gather additional revenue, given that we don't

         21  really know for sure what the customer demand is.

         22                 MR. PAGE:  Well, one way that we

         23  address that issue is that we have required that

         24  there be a guaranteed minimum payment, which is

         25  three million dollars escalated by CPI once you're
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          2  into the full build, and that minimum was the best

          3  financial proposal we had and we certainly expect

          4  that and hope that we will get more than that with

          5  our 50 percent, but we do have this guaranteed

          6  minimum for which there will be credit support

          7  backing that up.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, again it's in

          9  the company's, or the bidder's willingness to pay

         10  that you just assume naturally there's a market

         11  demand.  But this is a good deal because it

         12  generates revenues for the MTA, hopefully to offset

         13  any other fare increases that there might have to

         14  be.

         15                 MR. PAGE:  I think that's fair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay. And then does

         17  the way the contract is written limit the MTA's

         18  flexibility going forward two years from now, five

         19  years from now, where new technologies or new

         20  providers would come on the scene?  Like how long is

         21  the MTA locked into this deal with Transit Wireless?

         22                 MR. PAGE:  The MTA, under this

         23  license agreement, has granted an exclusive right to

         24  Transit Wireless to provide wireless communication

         25  services in the underground stations for the full
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          2  base term of ten years and up to two renewal terms

          3  of 20 years.  And the rationale --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Renewals at whose

          5  option?

          6                 MR. PAGE:  Renewals at Transit

          7  Wireless's Option.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So the MTA is

          9  potentially locked in for 30 years?

         10                 MR. PAGE:  Well, with the two year,

         11  it's two five year, I may have misspoken, two

         12  five-year renewal terms.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Oh, okay.  So it's

         14  a ten-year base term that the MTA is definitely

         15  locked in for, and then it's Transit Wireless's

         16  option to renew the license for five years twice.

         17                 MR. PAGE:  Right.  And the rationale

         18  for such a long license was the amount of

         19  infrastructure investment, 150 to 200 million

         20  dollars that will be spent.  Plus, as you said, the

         21  need to constantly upgrade for new technology, it

         22  was really necessary to give them a fairly long term

         23  to be able to amortize those costs. Particularly

         24  because there is some uncertainty as to the demand.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The estimates of
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          2  $46.8 million, that's what the MTA is anticipating

          3  as a best estimate what Transit Wireless would pay

          4  to the MTA over the course of the first ten years,

          5  or annually?

          6                 MR. PAGE:  That is the guaranteed

          7  minimum with an estimate of what CPI escalation will

          8  be.  So that's the guaranteed minimum over the first

          9  ten years.  So it's the three million as it

         10  escalates aggregated over those ten years.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.

         12                 MR. PAGE:  So just to clarify, if the

         13  system, if all carriers license out on the system

         14  and we get WiFi providers and it's very successful,

         15  we talked about there being the potential for

         16  anywhere from 12 to 15 million dollars a year of

         17  revenue which would be above the minimum, and so

         18  you're talking a much more substantial revenue

         19  stream.  But the number, the 40, I don't have the

         20  exact number in front of me, was calculated based on

         21  the guaranteed minimum.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Right.  The

         23  guaranteed minimum, but is there any kind of best

         24  estimate at this point on what those revenues could

         25  be?  Twelve to 15 million a year?
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          2                 MR. PAGE:  I would say that's the

          3  high end estimate. So it's somewhere between the 3

          4  million escalated and probably the 12 to 16 million.

          5

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  And you

          7  talked about Transit Wireless's track record in

          8  installing systems presumably in other cities?

          9                 MR. PAGE:  Transit Wireless itself is

         10  a start-up company, but its constituent members

         11  consist of telecommunications and construction firms

         12  that have done build-outs in other cities, both in

         13  airports and my recollection is in underground

         14  situations.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But the main reason

         16  that they got the contract is because they offer the

         17  most revenue to the MTA.

         18                 MR. PAGE:  Well, there were several

         19  reasons.  They offer the most revenue, they have

         20  experience.  One of the constituent entities is the

         21  construction installation firm that has done a

         22  substantial amount of work in the New York City

         23  Transit Authority system with radio projects and

         24  understands the difficulties and challenges in doing

         25  installs in that system.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, but you're

          3  saying that Transit Wireless, it sounds like it's a

          4  consortium of different companies.  And those

          5  companies have track records and they have to have

          6  track records in other transit systems, otherwise,

          7  what kind of track record would you be talking

          8  about?

          9                 MR. PAGE:  I do not have in front of

         10  me what their exact experience is, but I can think

         11  we could provide that to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, if you could

         13  give us that information.  I mean, given that it is

         14  a start-up company we would like to see exactly what

         15  the track record is in other cities as provided for

         16  by the member companies that make up the start-up

         17  consortium.

         18                 And then have they been given the

         19  notice to proceed, or is that still pending?

         20                 MR. PAGE:  The notice to proceed is

         21  still pending. There are conditions to the notice to

         22  proceed, one of which is approved drawings and

         23  specifications for the initial build.  And those are

         24  underway and we would expect that the formal notice

         25  to proceed will be forthcoming shortly.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, New York City

          3  Transit entered into the license agreement but it's

          4  not a done deal yet?  There still needs to be

          5  something completed before the notice of proceed is

          6  granted?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  This is a somewhat unusual

          8  notice to proceed.  In our typical contracts, the

          9  award would technically be the notice to proceed.

         10  Here we structured it somewhat differently because

         11  we had certain conditions that we wanted met before

         12  we gave the notice to proceed.  But the contract has

         13  been signed.  It's locked in.  It's really just the

         14  formal notice to proceed which triggers this

         15  two-year time period has these conditions, which not

         16  all of which have been met but are under way.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So in other words,

         18  this company has been given the green light?  Well,

         19  no, this company has been designated but they

         20  haven't been given the green light to go ahead yet.

         21  So what are some of the main conditions that they

         22  still have to meet before they can start the work?

         23                 MR. PAGE:  As I said, they need to go

         24  forward and produce the drawings and the

         25  specifications for the initial build. And I'm just
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          2   -- they have to provide financial security for the

          3  initial build which is either a completion bond

          4  letter of credit or a $5 million dedicated account.

          5  They need to get the performance bond from the

          6  contractor who is going to be doing the initial

          7  build, and lastly, the final plans designed drawings

          8  and specifications have to have been approved by New

          9  York City Transit Authority.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Are you at liberty

         11  to say who some of the other bidders were?  I'm

         12  sorry, yes, who some of the other bidders were?  If

         13  you can't say that, that's perfectly okay.

         14                 MR. PAGE:  No, there was a staff

         15  summary that went to our board that listed the other

         16  three proposers.  They were American Tower, there

         17  was a consortium of wireless carriers which were

         18  essentially the major wireless carriers that formed

         19  a consortium, and the fourth bidder was a firm

         20  called "World Network International Services."

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  So, it's

         22  interesting how with Transit Wireless, they're a new

         23  company although you say that the member companies

         24  of that consortium have experience in other cities

         25  and we'll wait to get that information.  There is no
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          2  guarantee that the major wireless carriers, I'm not

          3  sure if I'm using the right words, basically the

          4  cell phone companies from a consumer perspective,

          5  that they would actually sign on and provide their

          6  customers with access to this system.  And yet there

          7  is, and we have heard, that there was a company that

          8  bid for this work made up of the major carriers.

          9  Presumably there would then be a near guarantee that

         10  the members of that consortium which bid would

         11  ultimately sign up for the service and provide the

         12  cell service in the subways to their customers.

         13  Were they very far off?  Were they not given any

         14  kind of advantage since they already have the

         15  customer base in New York City?

         16                 MR. PAGE:  I was not part of the

         17  evaluation process, but my understanding was that

         18  their financial proposal was substantially lower

         19  than the Transit Wireless proposal.  And most

         20  importantly that they were unwilling to do the build

         21  at all of the 277 stations, that essentially they

         22  wanted to cherry-pick those stations which had the

         23  most traffic and didn't want to have to do the

         24  installation in those stations where their return

         25  was not assured.  And I think we felt that it was
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          2  critical that the install be done in all of the

          3  stations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And what's the name

          5  of that consortium?  You mentioned the names of the

          6  other ones, American Tower, World Network, but you

          7  didn't give us a name for this consortium of major

          8  wireless carriers.

          9                 MR. PAGE:  They called themselves the

         10  "Carrier Team."

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The Carrier Team?

         12                 MR. PAGE:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Is that a name that

         14  the MTA doesn't like?  That's why you didn't want to

         15  mention that name before.

         16                 MR. PAGE:  No, it really was just

         17  more descriptive to call them the "consortium of

         18  carriers."

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, that's fine.

         20                 So the Carrier Team, earlier we

         21  talked about whether there was enough demand for

         22  service in the subways and you automatically --

         23  well, your argument was that because there were

         24  companies willing to pay the MTA to install this

         25  system in the subways and even pay for the costs of
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          2  installing, that those companies must have some idea

          3  of what the customer, the consumer demand would be

          4  in the marketplace.  And yet Carrier Team,

          5  presumably the team with the most experience and the

          6  most knowledge of customer demand, they were not

          7  willing to pay as much.  And they did not seem to

          8  think that every single underground station needed

          9  to be wired.  Was there any kind of value on that

         10  kind of insight, or were they just being cheap?

         11                 MR. PAGE:  I personally wasn't

         12  involved in that evaluation process so I can't

         13  answer that.

         14                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  I think, Mr.

         15  Chairperson, that regardless of the projected

         16  revenue stream to MTA New York City Transit, the

         17  fact that the Carrier Team was unwilling to commit

         18  to wiring all of the underground subway stations was

         19  fairly close to a deal breaker for us.  If they

         20  couldn't provide the same level of service to

         21  everybody in all four boroughs in an underground

         22  subway station as we could provide at let's say

         23  Times Square or Penn Station, it was not an

         24  agreement that we were willing to enter into.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Were they
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          2  categorically unwilling to wire the other stations,

          3  or were they just simply saying, well, let's start

          4  with the major stations and work our way through the

          5  system?

          6                 As you know, this is going to take

          7  many years.  Just for the MTA to wire up the whole

          8  system with the new signal technology will take, you

          9  know, the last estimate we heard was 2020.  That may

         10  have been pushed back closer to 2030.  So it takes a

         11  long time.

         12                 Was the Carrier Team more willing to

         13  start with the major stations and then see how it

         14  goes?  Or they just didn't want to deal with the

         15  other stations?

         16                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  Their proposals

         17  included the major stations over a longer period of

         18  time than the Transit Wireless proposal for almost

         19  the entire system, and then basically an

         20  unwillingness to wire most of the stations in the

         21  outer boroughs, most of the smaller stations in the

         22  outer boroughs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, so what

         24  happens if this Transit Wireless start-up is not

         25  able to pay the total costs of what they've promised
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          2  to wire, and pay the minimum to the MTA? What

          3  happens if, I mean there is a risk of this company

          4  not being able to do that, especially if the major

          5  carriers decide not to sign up for the service.

          6  What happens then?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  The principle risk in

          8  going forward with Transit Wireless is what you've

          9  identified, is that during the initial build phase,

         10  which they are funding out of their own pockets,

         11  they are unable to reach an agreement with any of

         12  the major wireless carriers, then it's likely the

         13  case that they will not be able to proceed into the

         14  construction term and in that event we would be back

         15  to the drawing board.  But we believe that all of

         16  the advantages that they brought to the table, and

         17  their willingness to fund the initial build, and our

         18  understanding of the marketplace was such that that

         19  risk was worth taking.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Also, now here's a

         21  question that's been nagging at me for this past

         22  half hour:  In your initial testimony you stated

         23  that this company was an obvious choice in many

         24  ways, offered the highest revenue, agreed to cover

         25  New York City Transit's costs, met their
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          2  requirements for the specifications, had a track

          3  record of providing similar services to others, and

          4  we'll wait for the details of that track record, but

          5  you also mentioned that they evidenced credible

          6  financial backing. And then later as I was asking

          7  questions about this license that they've been

          8  awarded and the notice to proceed, they've been

          9  given the license but they haven't been given the

         10  notice to proceed and one of their requirements they

         11  have yet to meet before the MTA gives them the

         12  notice to proceed, is financial security and the

         13  performance bonds.  When you say that they evidenced

         14  credible financial backing why then are these two

         15  big questions still out there before the notice to

         16  proceed is granted?

         17                 MR. PAGE:  It's a matter of process.

         18  They were approved for award by the MTA board at the

         19  end of September --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Based on their

         21  willingness to pay. It doesn't seem like their

         22  ability to pay has been demonstrated.

         23                 MR. PAGE:  We have every expectation

         24  that the financial security will be forthcoming in

         25  the very near future together with the other
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          2  elements.  We're in an organizational phase of

          3  getting this project started but there has been no

          4  evidence whatsoever of them having any difficulty in

          5  meeting these initial financial obligations.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Well, I mean we

          7  have been calling for many years now for the MTA to

          8  get some kind of cell phone service in the subways,

          9  and the MTA is somewhat late, behind its own

         10  timeframe in terms of entering into this license

         11  agreement.  It has been a few years, actually it has

         12  been many years that the MTA has been contemplating

         13  putting cell phone service into the subways. It's

         14  maybe a year, year and half behind schedule, so

         15  what's another couple of months to announce the

         16  license agreement and the notice to proceed.  You,

         17  yourself said that it's unusual to separate this

         18  license agreement and then give a notice to proceed

         19  later on.  And it seems like the main difference

         20  between the license agreement and the notice to

         21  proceed is this financial backing, which then leads

         22  us to question, well is this deal actually sound and

         23  could we be back to the drawing board a couple of

         24  years from now?  Why couldn't we wait until they

         25  demonstrate, as you said, shortly, their ability to
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          2  pay?

          3                 MR. PAGE: Well, I think there are two

          4  different things.  One, their ability to get a

          5  carrier to sign on as a sublicensee during the

          6  initial term is something that will be an ongoing

          7  process that they have commenced and they have two

          8  years to reach agreement on.  The notice to proceed

          9  process was one that we structured to do the kick-

         10  off elements of the transaction in the near term

         11  very quickly after the award and that's underway and

         12  we have every expectation that all of those

         13  conditions will be met very shortly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And what will be

         15  very shortly? Maybe two months from now?

         16                 MR. PAGE:  I would guess less than

         17  that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Less than two

         19  months from now --

         20                 MR. PAGE:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- They will be

         22  given the notice to proceed and that's after they've

         23  demonstrated that they have strong financial

         24  backing, their financing is in place, their main

         25  contractors have their performance bonds issued.
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          2                 MR. PAGE:  Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, we'll

          4  continue to look at that.  That, I think, would be

          5  the Committee's biggest concern right now that the

          6  MTA has gone ahead and announced that we're going

          7  ahead with installing cell phone service in the

          8  subways, and yet for some reason there is a

          9  separation between the license agreement and the

         10  notice to proceed, with the financial backing being

         11  the main question which, therefore, leaves us to

         12  question if the wireless carriers actually would be

         13  behind what the MTA's doing right now.  Hopefully

         14  they will be and hopefully people will be able to

         15  get cell phone service which includes, as you talked

         16  about, text massaging and email service and WiFi in

         17  the subways and that we're not back to the drawing

         18  board a year or two years from now.

         19                 We have questions from my colleague,

         20  Chairperson Gale Brewer.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you very

         22  much, John, for all of your support on this issue.

         23  I guess I look at this as obviously a safety issue,

         24  funding for transit and then the customer.  And on

         25  the safety issue in the Technology Committee we've
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          2  had a lot of hearings obviously on what I call the

          3  first responder network which is going up with DoITT

          4  and the Police Department and the Fire Department.

          5  Do you coordinate with them at all?  In other words

          6  what's happening of course in order for the Fire

          7  Department, it's a wireless network, to be able to

          8  see the buildings that they're going into, the

          9  Police Department to have hand- helds all through

         10  the City is this wireless network.  Does this have

         11  any impact on what you're doing?  This is a first

         12  responder, no public input at all.

         13                 MR. PAGE:  We've had meetings with

         14  DoITT as regards to the underground radio systems.

         15  I'm not aware of meetings that we've had with

         16  regards to the subway cellular project, but there

         17  should be no interference or impact between the

         18  installation of the network below ground to provide

         19  cellular telephone service and the projects that

         20  DoITT is undertaking above ground and in building.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, that's

         22  because there's enough network division so that

         23  there wouldn't be any interference, --

         24                 MR. PAGE:  Yes, right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  -- Safety walls,
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          2  et cetera? Okay, second question is when I go to the

          3  72nd street subway now I get full service.  That's a

          4  bleeding.  How does that interfere or not with what

          5  you're planning?  West 4th full service, West 42nd

          6  full service, West 72 full service, West 96?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  There are several

          8  underground subway stations where due to the

          9  bleeding from the above ground cellular network to

         10  the station people are able to use their hand- held

         11  devices on those station platforms or mezzanines.

         12  There should be no interference between the system

         13  that we're installing below ground and the existing

         14  cellular network above ground.  The networks are

         15  designed such that the signals that are transmitted

         16  or received from a hand- held device are picked up

         17  and processed at the closest base station to the

         18  location of that device.  Underground that base

         19  station will be the below ground base station and

         20  the below ground network will process those signals

         21  and those telephone calls.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  All right, so

         23  when TW is fully operational, whenever that is, and

         24  the wireless carriers will be paying TW essentially,

         25  some were the same carriers that are not bleeding
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          2  into the subway, so that will just be a different

          3  arrangement than it is now.  There will be no

          4  bleeding in, is that what will happen?

          5                 MR. PAGE:  There might still be

          6  locations where the above ground signal bleeds in,

          7  but the below ground signal will be the one that

          8  actually receives the phone call and processes it

          9  because the signal strength at the receiver below

         10  ground will be greater than that is received at the

         11  below ground antenna system. So that call, that will

         12  be processed by the below ground system.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Also on the

         14  safety front, how does this help workers who are in

         15  the subway, this new system? Obviously they are in

         16  the tunnels which would not have an impact, but how

         17  do they benefit for not benefit from this system

         18  from a safety perspective, if at all?

         19                 MR. PAGE:  They will have the ability

         20  to use their existing cellular telephones on subway

         21  platforms and subway stations, a capability that

         22  they currently do not have except at those locations

         23  as you mentioned where there is bleeding through.

         24  But most of our workers below ground have radios.

         25  They communicate via radios.  Our trains communicate
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          2  via radios.  So this is an increased level of

          3  communications that they will have below ground that

          4  they currently --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And have they

          6  been part of the discussion in terms of this

          7  project?  The workers, the union.

          8                 MR. PAGE:  The union, I'm not aware

          9  of any discussions with the union.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  In terms

         11  of funding, the question I have is when you,

         12  obviously the Chair asked a lot about the 150 to 200

         13  and how it will end up being a win- win for the MTA,

         14  but how do you work out the relationship or do you

         15  have any input into the wireless carriers agreement

         16  with TW?  Is that something that you get involved

         17  with?  Or is that just their --

         18                 MR. PAGE:  The license agreement with

         19  TW requires MTA's approval of all of the sublicense

         20  agreements with the major carrier and in fact we

         21  have a form of license agreement with the carriers

         22  as part of the license agreement. So we expect to be

         23  fully involved --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  So that would

         25  mean that it would be all current wireless carriers?
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          2    How would that be determined which ones?  Is it a

          3  bidding process?  Is it a --

          4                 MR. PAGE:  TW is going to, as we

          5  speak, they've started talking to the wireless

          6  carriers about sublicensing opportunities under this

          7  network and I think that they are going to do it in

          8  a way they see fit in terms of the financial

          9  transaction, but we will have a right to review that

         10  and also to review the functional elements of the

         11  sublicense.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay.  The

         13  reason I ask this, do you know, is this how it works

         14  in other cities?  Obviously you have newer systems

         15  but you have, I assume, some systems that have been

         16  retrofitted.

         17                 MR. PAGE:  You have a mix in

         18  different cities.  You have some situations where a

         19  particular carrier has been given an exclusive right

         20  to put a network into place.  Even within the MTA

         21  family for example, in the Park Avenue Tunnel there

         22  is a single carrier that has an exclusive right in

         23  the Park Avenue Tunnel for Metro- North to provide

         24  service.  There are other situations where you have

         25  a neutral host analogous to the situation we have
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          2  where you have an independent network provider that

          3  then deals with each of the carriers and then there

          4  is a third model which is where the carriers form a

          5  consortium and do it themselves.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I asked for a

          7  couple of reasons.  One, obviously there is a

          8  financial issue, but also in our Committee we've had

          9  many discussions about trying to get new entrance

         10  into the system, communities of color, smaller

         11  carriers, et cetera.  And I guess that's something

         12  to be considered.  You've obviously got to start up

         13  in terms of TW, but there are also start ups in

         14  terms of some of these carriers that are trying to

         15  get into the business.  It's a tough road to go.

         16  Maybe it makes sense, maybe it doesn't but it needs

         17  to be looked at.

         18                 In terms of the customer, if in fact

         19  this works, the customer would obviously be able to

         20  use his or her cell phone but in addition, be at the

         21  Blackberry discussion in terms of notification as to

         22  when the trains are or are not coming, I'm sure we

         23  all saw that in the time.  There is a lot of

         24  discussion regarding campuses, alerting people to

         25  some horrific situation. How would the customer, or
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          2  do you plan to have that kind of notification

          3  system, and if so, how would the customer sign up?

          4  It's not done blanket, one has to sign up.  How

          5  would you implement that or are you considering that

          6  aspect for the customer?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  I'm not familiar with, I

          8  know there is a planning effort underway to provide

          9  messaging opportunities to customers.  I don't know

         10  the details of that.  But I think what this WiCom

         11  network will provide is an infrastructure that will

         12  give many different avenues and opportunities to get

         13  information to the customer.  You'll have text

         14  massaging, email through the phone device, you'll

         15  have the ability to access PDAs, you'll have the

         16  ability for people to bring their laptop and do a

         17  WiFi hotspot --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  That's down the

         19  line I think from what you're saying.

         20                 MR. PAGE:  Right.  But this creates

         21  the infrastructure where all those tools are

         22  available to be implemented.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  There is a

         24  notion in many places in order to get some of this

         25  information you have to sign up and if so then you
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          2  have to do that through the web site or through a

          3  phone call or through your carrier.  It doesn't just

          4  come, information from the MTA because you're going

          5  to have every single subway riders cell phone number

          6  I assume.

          7                 MR. PAGE:  Right, we can --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  It's down the

          9  line but it's something to think about.  People are

         10  looking for that.  They want it as a safety

         11  precaution for your workers and for customers.

         12                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  It will probably be a

         13  subscription service where people will either via

         14  the website, phone, or regular mail sign --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Right, that's

         16  what I'm saying.

         17                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  -- Up to receive

         18  those sort of services.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The other aspect

         20  of what's going on on the customer front is EDC,

         21  Economic Development Corporation, as you may or may

         22  not know has a survey that they've commissioned to

         23  look at broadband throughout the City. Are you aware

         24  of that discussion and how would that fit into your

         25  plans for connectivity, not just cell phone, but

                                                            45

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  text?

          3                 MR. PAGE:  I'm not aware of that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Okay, you might

          5  want to consider that because what is happening is

          6  that it may or may not end up blanketing the City of

          7  New York, in which case you're going to have as the

          8  libraries do now, people just coming down from the

          9  street into the subway to use their laptops.  If

         10  there is no connectivity upstairs, then they're

         11  going to come down, you might as well put some

         12  benches and chairs and tables and so on and having a

         13  real hot spot, and maybe coffee or whatever  People

         14  are lining the libraries right now trying to get

         15  connectivity because we don't have it as other

         16  Cities do.  So this is something, it's not a revenue

         17  enhancer, but it's something that you have to

         18  coordinate what is going on Citywide.

         19                 I just want to finally ask, what's

         20  the timing of this, I know that Chairman Liu asked,

         21  but what is the timing from your perspective once TW

         22  is given the green light?  What are the next steps

         23  specifically timewise?

         24                 MR. PAGE:  We talked about the notice

         25  to proceed which we believe will be granted very
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          2  shortly, then there is a two-year period for Transit

          3  Wireless to fully build out and have Transit

          4  Authority inspect and test and approve that initial

          5  six build pilot and to let customers use it and to

          6  work out the kinks and have a lessons learned

          7  exercise.  Once that two-year period is over, and it

          8  could be faster than two years if everything falls

          9  into place and assuming that Transit Wireless

         10  reaches an agreement with at least one of the

         11  carriers, they will then move into the full build

         12  which we've required them to do within four years.

         13  They believe they can do it faster than that.  They

         14  believe that they can get it done in three years.

         15  But they have four years to do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And full build

         17  is the subway, 200 plus.

         18                 MR. PAGE:  Correct.

         19                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  Two-hundred

         20  seventy-one remaining underground.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  And does that

         22  include cell and text?  Or what do you mean by full

         23  build in terms of the customer?

         24                 MR. PAGE:  They are putting the

         25  infrastructure of the network in place.  They will
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          2  have at least one carrier so that there will be one

          3  carrier system that will be providing all the

          4  elements of cell service, which will include text

          5  massaging and everything you can currently get on a

          6  cell phone, and then they will either also have

          7  other wireless carriers sublicensing and

          8  participating in the network or WiFi hotspots, but

          9  those will be commercial negotiations that they will

         10  be undertaking.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you

         13  Chairperson Brewer.  You know, while you're at it,

         14  when you serve the free coffee, you can generate

         15  revenues by selling advertising on the coffee cups.

         16  You can also allow like a book store to sell books

         17  in the subway station.  You can use the token booths

         18  for that space because we're not really using the

         19  token booths anymore.  So, there's all sorts of ways

         20  you can generate revenue so that we don't have to

         21  have a fair increase.

         22                 All right, anyway, we have questions

         23  from Council Member Joe Addabbo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         25  Mr. Chair, and I want to thank both Committees and
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          2  their staff for the efforts put into this hearing,

          3  thank you very much.  And to the MTA panel today,

          4  thank you very much for your time and for your

          5  efforts on this issue.

          6                 I think you're on the cusp of a

          7  service that many people might enjoy and use and

          8  it's also a service that many people may be annoyed

          9  with, as people sometimes are annoyed with others as

         10  they talk on the phone.  So I think we're at a

         11  crossroads here so it's interesting as we go

         12  forward.  People who don't like the service are

         13  going to be even more frustrated if there are

         14  service disruptions and I know you mentioned it

         15  slightly in your testimony just to be more clear, do

         16  you foresee any service disruptions during the

         17  implementation, construction phase and

         18  implementation of this service for the cell phone?

         19                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  Most of the work will

         20  take place within the limits of the subway station

         21  but we would anticipate that there will be minor

         22  service disruptions during the installation period

         23  of the equipment that goes inside the station.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  So, again,

         25  writing anything in stone roughly how long would
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          2  that construction be for timewise?

          3                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  It might take place

          4  over the overnight period.  Trains would probably

          5  still run, but they might run at a slower speed,

          6  there might be some instances where installations

          7  might have to cross tracks for example where we

          8  might have to put in place diversions of service and

          9  reroute trains to accomplish that portion of the

         10  work.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And in

         12  tradition of MTA, plenty of notice will be given to

         13  the rides, correct I'm sure? Okay.

         14                 Have you ever started this process

         15  before and then stopped as far as the idea of cell

         16  phone service in the subways? Have you ever decided

         17  this is what we're going to do, you started a

         18  process, and then for whatever reason stopped, and

         19  if so, why did you stop?

         20                 MR. PAGE:  I'm not aware, this

         21  started a while ago and it has taken a while, but

         22  I'm not aware of any process having started prior to

         23  that and then stopping.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  The system

         25  itself that you're envisioning here, has it ever
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          2  been tested before?  Do you know, in maybe other

          3  jurisdictions, in other territories, has this type

          4  of service been tested before anywhere?  Especially

          5  by the company that you retained?

          6                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  The system is made up

          7  of pieces of equipment and components that are all

          8  in use in various cellular installations throughout

          9  the world.  There is an antenna system that runs

         10  along the station platforms and throughout the

         11  station. That antenna system, it's called a

         12  distributed antenna system at DAS has been

         13  manufactured, installed in many locations throughout

         14  the world.  The base station equipment that

         15  processes and receives the phone calls, again, it's

         16  made by the largest manufacturer of these equipment

         17  and is used throughout the world.  So all of the

         18  components, both individually and in combination are

         19  used in most major cellular networks throughout the

         20  world.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And you're

         22  confident given the New York City structure that it

         23  will work here?

         24                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  Yes we are.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And lastly,
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          2  I'll speak generally about it, maybe my colleagues

          3  will get into more detail, but security.  Obviously

          4  cell phone use may be further down the line.

          5  Internet use has been linked with whether it be

          6  terrorist activity or crime in general.  Cell phones

          7  being stolen, laptops being stolen, so forth, have

          8  you discussed within the MTA the possibilities of

          9  increased security when you, again, start this

         10  service given that it may give rise to the

         11  opportunity to increased crime?

         12                 MR. PAGE:  Neither of us are security

         13  experts but I can say that I know all of the

         14  security-related issues associated with the

         15  implementation of this system were reviewed by the

         16  security team within MTA and both the decision was

         17  made to go forward and I would expect that the

         18  appropriate precautions are being made in connection

         19  with the implementation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I'm sure

         21  that's an issue again that the MTA has addressed,

         22  and will address as we go forward and we also go

         23  forward I'm sure you may be back here to give us an

         24  update.  We appreciate the open dialog regarding the

         25  implementation of this service.
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          2                 Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 MR. PAGE:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

          6  Member Addabbo. Council Member Lappin.  I'm sorry,

          7  Council Member Felder.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

          9  very much. Appreciate Chairman Liu and Chairwoman

         10  Brewer for this very informative and important

         11  hearing.

         12                 I just want to piggyback on Council

         13  Member Addabbo's question somewhat.  Who is

         14  responsible for the security in the stations?

         15  Whether they be robbery, whether they be terrorism

         16  or anything else?

         17                 MR. PAGE:  I think the police

         18  presence is the NYPD and then there's a whole MTA

         19  NYCT security infrastructure that works closely with

         20  the NYPD.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So what has

         22  been the NYPD or New York City Transit Police, I

         23  don't know who is responsible, have they reviewed

         24  the issues of terrorism in the subway systems with

         25  the, you know, look, if God forbid somebody intends
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          2  to do damage there's really no way to stop it

          3  entirely, but yet we do whatever we can humanly to

          4  prevent that.  Who has reviewed the impact, if any,

          5  or the dangers of having phone service, cell phone

          6  service in the stations?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  Again, neither of us are

          8  security folks but I do know that the MTA security

          9  and NYCT security groups looked very closely and

         10  there was dialog about it and the decision was made

         11  that the benefits of having the service outweighed

         12  the risks. But --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Well, I'm not

         14  going to ask the question again, because I don't

         15  want you to have to say the same thing again, but I

         16  still would like to know who it is that reviewed the

         17  issues of security, particularly those of the impact

         18  of possible God forbid terrorism in the stations

         19  which have become a target internationally, and what

         20  if any, the impact of cell phone service might have.

         21    And if it's okay I'd ask the Chairs if that could

         22  be submitted in writing, you know that we get the

         23  answer formally because that's not enough for you

         24  I'm sure, and it's not enough for me.  I trust you,

         25  but I'd like to know who did it.  So that's one
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          2  issue of security.

          3                 The other issue of security, or

          4  safety I should say, has to do with people on the

          5  subway.  On the platform itself where will service

          6  be available?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  The service will be

          8  available throughout the platform, the passage ways,

          9  the mezzanines, essentially, --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So would you

         11  say that the service would be available, you know

         12  that yellow line that they paint on the platform so

         13  that people shouldn't walk beyond that, is service

         14  available there as well?

         15                 MR. PAGE:  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  That was the

         17  answer I wanted and I don't like it.  I'll tell you

         18  why I don't like it is because as it is there are

         19  some elected officials, and I'm not one of them,

         20  that want to prohibit cell service, you know for

         21  people talking on the cell phones while they're

         22  crossing streets.  And I don't know if you've seen

         23  it, but I've seen it, and I probably have done it

         24  myself, almost walking right into a car while I'm

         25  talking on the phone.  Now, I hope and pray, and
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          2  don't expect thousand's of New Yorkers walking off

          3  the platform into the tracks, but let me tell you,

          4  if you watch people walking in the street any day,

          5  things aren't that good in Manhattan.  People are

          6  talking on their phones, forget about the people

          7  driving, I'm not getting involved, but pedestrians,

          8  the danger is tremendous.  I don't see why you can't

          9  at least prevent that close to the end of the subway

         10  station there should be no service so that

         11  automatically people don't walk off the platform.

         12  It sounds funny but I'm very serious.  If you watch

         13  what's going on in the streets of any busy City, you

         14  will find people walking into people, forget about

         15  it, that we did before we had cell service, but

         16  walking into cars, walking, now, so in a car, you

         17  know outside that's one thing, somebody can stop.

         18  But why does there have to be cell service to the

         19  end of the platform?  At least this way it would

         20  automatically stop people from walking into the

         21  trains or walking off the platform.  Can you explain

         22  that?

         23                 MR. BIENSTOCK:  Yes, sir.  In order

         24  to provide service anywhere on the platform you have

         25  to provide service everywhere on the platform.

                                                            56

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So what are

          3  you going to do to really prevent or help ensure the

          4  safety of people who are talking on their cell

          5  phones and I again, I admit I am just as guilty as

          6  anyone else, who are busy on a cell phone and, you

          7  know I think it's something that you have to take

          8  into consideration. I don't know what the answer is

          9  because there were discussions about, you know

         10  perhaps there being no cell phone zones, I don't

         11  know about that  You probably have the same answer

         12  that it has to be there everywhere.  But it scares

         13  me. The thought of having people talking on a cell

         14  phone right near the end of the platform is

         15  frightening to me and if there's something that can

         16  be done I would appreciate it.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MR. PAGE:  You're welcome.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         20  Member Felder.

         21                 Questions from Council Member

         22  Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I'm glad to

         24  see that you are installing the availability of cell

         25  phone service on the platforms but I'm not happy
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          2  about the fact that you are postponing, if not

          3  precluding, at least for the moment, cell phone

          4  service on the trains.  However, I recognize there

          5  are negative aspects of that and I would like to ask

          6  you, first of all, I take the commuter train from my

          7  District into Grand Central.  And cell phone service

          8  is of course available outside.  It's not available

          9  in part of the tunnel.  It is available in Grand

         10  Central Station which is somewhat annoying if you're

         11  on the phone going one way or another and you get

         12  cut off.  But let me ask you first whether you get

         13  many complaints about the use of cell phones on the

         14  commuter trains.  Is that a major problem with

         15  customers?  I'm sure there are some complaints, but

         16  do you define it, have you looked into it?  And have

         17  you found that it's a major irritant?

         18                 MR. PAGE:  I don't have that

         19  information on --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay, could

         21  we, Mr. Chairman, I would appreciate that the

         22  Committee ask the MTA what the experience has been

         23  with respect to complaints by customers on the

         24  commuter trains about cell phone use.  Because if

         25  there are very many, many complaints, then maybe I
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          2  will be less anxious to get the service on the

          3  subway trains.  On the other hand, if there are

          4  relative few complaints, I'm sure there are some

          5  because I've been on the train when people have

          6  abused the privilege, they're yelling and screaming

          7  on the cell phone, or talking excessively, but I

          8  don't think it's a major problem, my own

          9  observation, but I only take the one train for a

         10  relatively short ride.

         11                 It seems to me that given the

         12  technology it shouldn't be that difficult in most

         13  tunnels to provide the service in the tunnels.  You

         14  even say in your statement that in some tunnels

         15  you'll get service because the waves will be able to

         16  proceed from the station into the tunnel.  And I

         17  understand that maybe under the river that would be

         18  a more difficult problem and I can see that there

         19  will be certain blackout areas, but should you not

         20  explore?  I would recommend to the MTA that it

         21  explore. Providing the service where not too

         22  difficult on the train because first of all people

         23  can use it without making noise, second of all

         24  people in the midst of conversations and a train

         25  comes, they get cut off.  In some ways that's worse
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          2  than not having the service at all because you get

          3  used to talking and then all of a sudden you're cut

          4  off.  So I would recommend, and I don't know how

          5  you'll say it, that the study be continued with

          6  respect to putting service in the tunnels.  Do you

          7  have any comment on that?

          8                 MR. PAGE:  We'll take that back.  I

          9  think it naturally will be, as the service in the

         10  stations rolls out it will be a subject of policy

         11  consideration for the reasons you said.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I would

         13  strongly recommend it.  I mean there are ways of

         14  dealing with it, even to the, I'll say this and then

         15  I'll stop, Mr. Chairman, but on the long- haul

         16  railroads they have quiet cars, so they have certain

         17  cars where people are not supposed to talk on cell

         18  phone.  You could have that on a subway as well and

         19  you may say people won't listen, but there is a

         20  tendency for self policing in that kind of system.

         21  So if you have quiet car, a couple of quiet cars on

         22  the train and someone gets in and starts talking on

         23  the cell phone, other passengers will say you know

         24  this is a quiet car, please turn off your cell

         25  phone. And generally speaking, I think that works.
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          2  So I do think that serious attention should be given

          3  to extending this service to the whole system.

          4                 MR. PAGE:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I would certainly

          6  echo and second Council Member Koppell's request to

          7  the MTA.  There is no reason to just stop at the

          8  platforms.  I'm a frequent rider of the Number 7

          9  line which does have full cell service because it's

         10  for the most part above ground.  And so you have the

         11  ability to email, to text and to check voicemails.

         12  All of those are silent activities.  And if you

         13  really need to, you can talk quietly into the phone.

         14    You know, let's face it, some people say that

         15  there will be too many people yapping on their cell

         16  phones on the subways.  Whether we like it or not,

         17  and whether it's above ground or below ground, a

         18  subway train is not really the place you go for a

         19  lot of peace and quiet tranquility. There's plenty

         20  of noise on the subway already from the subway cars

         21  themselves, as well as from other people just having

         22  conversations with each other in the car.  So I

         23  would definitely agree with Council Member that you

         24  should look to see what can be done to actually

         25  extend service to the entire subway system.  And
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          2  this is what I started to ask before, but you know

          3  what, let me defer to Council Member Reyna and I'll

          4  come back to this --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.

          6  Chairman, just briefly --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  -- Question related

          8  to Council Member Koppell.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- If I may

         10  ask you the question since we're talking about this

         11  and you mentioned it; do you find that on the Number

         12  7 train it's a big problem?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  No, it's really not

         14  a problem.

         15                 Again, once in a while you get

         16  someone who is very rude and everybody stares at

         17  that person and usually that person realizes that

         18  they're being a social miscreant.  But for the most

         19  part, people, I mean it is New York and people deal

         20  with these things. It's far better to be in touch

         21  then to be totally out of touch.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  I just want to

         23  add to that, I don't take the Number 7 as often as

         24  my colleague, but certainly when I do, the minute

         25  you get out of the tunnel and you are above ground,
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          2  every single person is on their cell phone.  It's

          3  like Bingo, so I would suggest that there's a

          4  demand.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Council Member

          6  Reyna.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you both

          8  Chairs.  I just wanted to find out in the next two

          9  years where will the system be implemented exactly

         10  throughout the five boroughs?

         11                 MR. PAGE:  In the initial build all

         12  of the stations are in Manhattan and they're fairly

         13  close together.  And part of the rationale for that

         14  was that --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Was that a

         16  joint decision between the MTA and TW?

         17                 MR. PAGE:  Yes it was.   And the

         18  rationale for it was that TW had infrastructure in

         19  place in that area to help facilitate the build out

         20  and we also picked stations that varied in terms of

         21  size and complexity so that you would have what we

         22  call a simple build, we have four levels of build

         23  and there is one that's a simple and a couple that

         24  are complex and one or two that are very complex,

         25  and so it was an attempt to put in place a build out
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          2  that could be done faster but also range the whole

          3  level of complexity.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And exactly

          5  where are those stations as far as Manhattan is

          6  concerned?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  We actually listed it in

          8  the written testimony.  It's the 23rd Street C and

          9  E, and 14th Street A C and E stations on the 8th

         10  Avenue line, the 8th Avenue and 6th Avenue L line

         11  stations, the 14th Street F Streets -- F station on

         12  the 6th Avenue line and the 14th Street 1, 2, and 3

         13  station on the 7th Avenue line.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And you

         15  mentioned 6th Avenue on the L line?

         16                 MR. PAGE:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes.  So if

         18  they're going to be implementing the L line on the

         19  6th Avenue line, will that include essentially

         20  crossing over into Brooklyn?

         21                 MR. PAGE:  No, the initial build will

         22  only be at that single station --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  At that single

         24  station.

         25                 MR. PAGE:  Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And so, if I'm

          3  a customer riding the subway on the L coming from

          4  Brooklyn I won't get service until I'm at that

          5  station?

          6                 MR. PAGE:  Correct.  If you're on the

          7  train you'll only get service while the train is

          8  dwelling, passing through the station.  If you are

          9  on the platform at that station you'll have service

         10  the whole time you're waiting.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So as a

         12  resident from Brooklyn, my last station is 6th

         13  Avenue on the L line or 8th Avenue on the L line.  I

         14  won't be able to get anything done between Brooklyn

         15  and Manhattan until that station.

         16                 MR. PAGE:  That's correct, in the

         17  initial build. And then again, the full build is

         18  only stations only, so even when the full build and

         19  all the stations, you're going to have intermittent

         20  interruptions in your service when you're on the

         21  train.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Why not just

         23  do continuous stations along one line?

         24                 MR. PAGE:  As we said, the policy

         25  decision was made not to put cell service into the
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          2  tunnels at this time and the reasons were both

          3  customer amenity reasons and service disruption

          4  reasons and cost reasons.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  When you say

          6  customer amenities --

          7                 MR. PAGE:  The issue of people using

          8  the phone on the trains and the disruption that --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  During the

         10  riding.

         11                 MR. PAGE:  During the riding, right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  The question

         13  specifically to infrastructure, is the MTA not

         14  spending a single cent on any of the infrastructure

         15  that it would take to build out the system in all

         16  200, you said 271 subway stations, underground

         17  subway stations?

         18                 MR. PAGE:  There are six in the

         19  initial build and 271 addition, so 277 total, and

         20  that's correct, MTA will not be spending any of its

         21  own money for the build out.  Any Transit Authority

         22  services that are used in connection with the build

         23  out will be reimbursed by TW.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Repeat that

         25  again.  Any --
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          2                 MR. PAGE:  Any Transit Authority

          3  labor that is used in connection with this project,

          4  the cost of that will be reimbursed --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Has any been

          6  identified with the initial six?

          7                 MR. PAGE:  There will be what we call

          8  "force account work," Transit Authority labor both

          9  at the design and construction management and field

         10  level.  And that will be part of the cost of the

         11  initial --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  So personnel

         13  services, professional services.

         14                 MR. PAGE:  Professional services,

         15  flag men, inspectors, and so on.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And you'll be

         17  getting reimbursed -- do you know the amount, that's

         18  on top of the leasing agreement?

         19                 MR. PAGE:  It's part of the license

         20  agreement that they have an obligation to reimburse

         21  us.  The expectation is that for the full build of

         22  the 277 stations were in the range of almost 30 to

         23  30 million dollars of Transit Authority expense that

         24  will be reimbursed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thirty to 40
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          2  million in personnel --

          3                 MR. PAGE:  In the whole gamut of

          4  force account, professional services, personnel, and

          5  field inspections, et cetera.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And as far as

          7  furniture within the platforms, is there any that's

          8  going to be used by TW?

          9                 MR. PAGE:  Sorry, I didn't hear the

         10  first part.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Furniture,

         12  like a token both that's no longer in use.

         13                 MR. PAGE:  No. No, there will be some

         14  equipment that gets attached to walls but it's

         15  relatively small and will be put in out of the way

         16  places.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  My last

         18  question, I just wanted to find out, as far as the

         19  revenue eliminating the reimbursement factor,

         20  there's $46 million over ten years that the MTA will

         21  see?

         22                 MR. PAGE:  That's the minimum.

         23  That's the calculation of this guaranteed minimum as

         24  escalated over the ten years of the base term.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And will this
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          2  essentially be a dedicated revenue fund for only the

          3  New York City Transit System?

          4                 MR. PAGE:  I don't know the answer to

          5  how those proceeds are applied.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And who does

          7  know?

          8                 MR. PAGE:  We can find that and get

          9  back to you on that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  I'm interested

         11  in particular to this question, both Chairs, as

         12  opposed to sending such a revenue stream of funding

         13  to the general operations of the MTA to have a

         14  dedicated revenue fund that would support the

         15  Transit System, considering the ridership and the

         16  need of building out our infrastructure.  You know,

         17  on the L line, for instance, we've been calling for

         18  additional cars, it's something that the more the

         19  City gets developed, the increase of ridership,

         20  PlaNYC in the way, there's a need for making sure

         21  that a lot of these particular ventures,

         22  partnerships that you're creating are going to

         23  support the customer base of ridership as far as the

         24  need to improve our train capacity.  And so I'm not

         25  too sure what the agreement is between New York City
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          2  Transit and the MTA on this particular revenue, but

          3  I hope that at the end of the day there's going to

          4  be a percentage that we're going to be able to see

          5  come back to the City.

          6                 MR. PAGE:  We'll find that

          7  information out.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Council

         10  Member Reyna.

         11                 Just a couple of follow-up questions

         12  for you gentlemen and we'll be done.

         13                 We talked about earlier in the

         14  hearing about to what extent does the agreement with

         15  TW constrain MTA and the off City Transit in the

         16  future.  And you talked about a ten year base term

         17  renewable up to two times for five years each for a

         18  total of 20 years.  And you also mention that, well,

         19  let me ask you this, the technology that's being

         20  installed in the platforms, is that common

         21  technology that the other bidders would have used as

         22  well?  Or is that distinct from the technology that

         23  other bidders may have been installed?

         24                 MR. PAGE:  Some of the other bidders

         25  proposed the installation of the exact same
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          2  technology and others proposed the installation of

          3  slightly different technology from the same

          4  manufacturer.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What did the

          6  Carrier Team propose? Did they propose using the

          7  same technology or different equipment?

          8                 MR. PAGE:  I don't recall

          9  specifically.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  What would happen

         11  if at some point, well I'll say it right now, I

         12  think it's inevitable that at some point the MTA

         13  will start to wire the tunnels.  I think just

         14  customer demand, the marketplace, the demand for

         15  that kind of service will be inevitable, is

         16  inevitable.  So at some point the MTA is going to

         17  have to expand the scope of this work.  At that

         18  point, when you make a decision, is it going to be

         19  easy to build upon the infrastructure that's already

         20  been laid out in the platforms or are we going to

         21  lose out because a few years down the road the

         22  technology that's being used today is not going to

         23  be easily expandable to the rest of the system,

         24  including the tunnels?

         25                 MR. PAGE:  No, the technology that
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          2  you use today will support current and future needs

          3  as they can be foreseen, and the TW is required in

          4  the design and building of the system to plan for,

          5  so the system will be capable of expansion to the

          6  tunnels at a future date if the MTA and TW --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  You seem to suggest

          8  that all the equipment out there is similar.  That

          9  all the bidders either propose using the exact same

         10  equipment or similar equipment by the same

         11  manufacturers.  So there is not a huge disparity of

         12  available equipment right now.

         13                 MR. PAGE:  That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, so the

         15  answer is that we're not being constrained in the

         16  future if there is a future decision to expand the

         17  service to the tunnels.

         18                 MR. PAGE:  That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  There's already

         20  been a great deal of difficulty just coordinating

         21  radio services in the subway system.  The Police

         22  Department, the Fire Department, other emergency

         23  responders, so the MTA is still working on that

         24  aspect. Does this complicate things in any way?

         25  Does introducing cell service, even on the
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          2  platforms, complicate the MTA's efforts to

          3  coordinate the radio communications among the

          4  different emergency responders and agencies?

          5                 MR. PAGE:  We don't anticipate any

          6  problems and as a matter of fact there is specific

          7  testing called for in the installation of this

          8  contract to make sure that the system that's being

          9  installed doesn't interfere, not only with the radio

         10  systems but with any other New York City transit

         11  systems that are operable below ground.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  All right, and then

         13  finally the E911 aspect of the cell phone service.

         14  What's the MTA's position on E911.  Because there

         15  are some people who say, I've said it, Congressman

         16  Anthony Weiner has said it, other people have said

         17  it, that cell service customers already have to pay

         18  the 911 surcharge that was supposed to result in 911

         19  access universally.  Somehow that has not applied to

         20  the subway system, so is the MTA's position on that

         21  that the subway system was exempt from that

         22  requirement or are we now catching up to that

         23  requirement?

         24                 MR. PAGE:  I'm not sure of the

         25  question.  We are --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Whenever you pay a

          3  cell phone bill there is a 911 surcharge.  That

          4  surcharge was supposed to result in 911 access

          5  universally for anybody who has a working phone,

          6  even without a subscription.  If you can turn on the

          7  phone and it has battery, you should be able to call

          8  911.  That's true today from the street level, but

          9  obviously it's not true from inside the subway

         10  system.  So has the MTA's position been that the

         11  underground subway system is exempt from that

         12  requirement, that universal 911 access requirement?

         13                 MR. PAGE:  I don't know the

         14  requirements and we'll have to look into that and

         15  get back to you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  All right,

         17  well we've been joined by Council Member Darlene

         18  Mealy from Brooklyn who has just come in from

         19  another hearing.

         20                 There being no other questions --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER:   I just want to

         22  thank you and also second the fact that there should

         23  be systemwide service.  I think we're all concerned

         24  about the business model, I know you're confident

         25  that it's going to work.  Council Member Liu's
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          2  questions were right on target.  The question of

          3  course is, how do you work the business model so

          4  that all carriers, perhaps even some new carriers

          5  are part of it and it is something that is

          6  universally appreciated and adds to the safety.  I

          7  think those are tall orders and I hope you'll keep

          8  us updated.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. PAGE:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for

         12  joining us.

         13                 MR. PAGE:  You're welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Our next witness

         15  will be William Guild of the Permanent Citizens

         16  Advisory Committee to the Metropolitan Transit

         17  Authority.

         18                 Welcome Mr. Guild, please proceed.

         19                 MR. GUILD:  Thank you.  My name is

         20  William Guild. I am Chair of the Permanent Citizens

         21  Advisory Committee to the Metropolitan

         22  Transportation Authority.  The PCAC is the

         23  coordinating body for three riders councils created

         24  by the New York State Legislature in 1981: The Long

         25  Island Rail Road Commuters Council; the Metro- North
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          2  Railroad Commuter Council; and the New York City

          3  Transit Riders Council.

          4                 The councils were created to give

          5  users of MTA subway, bus, and commuter rail services

          6  a voice in the formulation and implementation of MTA

          7  policy and to hold the MTA Board and management

          8  accountable to riders.  The PCAC and its councils

          9  hold regular public meetings and forums, undertake

         10  frequent research projects, and maintain a support

         11  staff of transportation planning professionals.

         12  Since 1995 the PCAC has held a non- voting seat on

         13  the MTA Board.

         14                 The 38 authorized members of the PCAC

         15  are required to be regular users of the MTA system

         16  and serve without pay. Members are appointed by the

         17  Governor's office, upon the recommendation of county

         18  executives and, for New York City, the Mayor, Public

         19  Advocate, and Borough Presidents.

         20                 The PCAC and its constituent

         21  councils, including the Transit Riders Council of

         22  which I am a member, support in principle the

         23  current initiative to make cell phone service

         24  available to subway customers in underground

         25  stations.  Such service is generally available
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          2  through the commercial cell phone system on elevated

          3  and other above ground segments of the rapid transit

          4  system, as it is on the commuter railroads.  Only

          5  stations would be equipped for cell phone service

          6  below ground; there is no proposal at this point to

          7  wire the tunnels between stations, and service would

          8  be available only in stations.  We understand that

          9  equipment and service will be provided by

         10  communication firms without cost to the MTA, and

         11  with no increased operating expense.  Indeed, the

         12  system is expected to generate some operating

         13  revenue to New York City Transit.

         14                 We believe that the convenience of

         15  subway customers, who will be able for the first

         16  time to communicate in subway stations as they have

         17  for years in other public places, clearly outweighs

         18  any possible annoyance to other passengers, the main

         19  objection we have heard to this proposal.  We do

         20  urge New York City Transit to initiate a public

         21  advertising campaign to enlighten and inform

         22  prospective cell phone users in the subways about

         23  the common sense rules of cell phone courtesy.  This

         24  advertising should start before cell phone service

         25  becomes available in the underground stations.
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          2                 In addition to routine calls, cell

          3  phone infrastructure in the subway's underground

          4  stations will enable riders to notify families,

          5  employers and others in the event of delays, and

          6  also to report emergencies or security issues.

          7  Conversely, the MTA and New York City Transit can

          8  develop instant messages and other techniques to

          9  supplement existing email service advisories, which

         10  currently provide information to subway riders only

         11  on routine or planned service changes, and only

         12  where email service is available.  The Long Island

         13  Railroad's current service alerts and advisories,

         14  including notice of major service disruptions can be

         15  sent to any device with an email address, cell

         16  phones, pagers, mobile PDAs and so forth.

         17                 The Transit Riders Council urges New

         18  York City Transit to proceed forthwith to initiate a

         19  system of text massaging for transit users who sign

         20  up, so that close to real time message alerts can be

         21  received.  Enhanced versions of these services can

         22  and should be made available to subway riders on a

         23  real time basis by utilizing the wireless

         24  infrastructure which will be required to support

         25  cell phone use.
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          2                 We see this as a win- win opportunity

          3  and urge the City Council to support the proposal.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

          6  Chairman Guild for your time and your testimony.

          7                 MR. GUILD:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We have a question

          9  for you from Council Member Mealy.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Hi.  Do you

         11  think the public will be really annoyed with the

         12  cell phone service in the train station?

         13                 MR. GUILD:  Well, my own observation

         14  is that some people are always annoyed by other

         15  people talking on cell phones and I have heard the

         16  theory that it's because they can't stand hearing

         17  only one side of a conversation.  Unquestionably,

         18  some people speak too loudly when they're on cell

         19  phones.  I've experienced this.  People carrying on

         20  conversations perfectly normally, and then they get

         21  on a cell phone and start shouting. But this is why

         22  we were suggesting a campaign, an advertising

         23  campaign to let people know what sort of curtesy is

         24  appropriate and to remind them to practice that.

         25  But this is a problem everywhere. I don't see it as
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          2  any more or less serious in subway stations, or

          3  indeed if and when it's extended on subway trains.

          4  I mean we have it on buses now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you Chairman

          6  Guild and thank you Council Member Mealy.

          7                 MR. GUILD:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  We would now like

          9  to invite Michael Harris to testify.  Welcome, Mr.

         10  Harris, please proceed when you're ready.

         11                 MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.  Good

         12  morning, Chairman Liu, Chairman Brewer, I want to

         13  thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak to

         14  you this morning on this vitally important issue.

         15  And I am very glad I was not the first speaker today

         16  because I was running late due to subway delays and

         17  would love to have been able to have called either

         18  one of you and told you that I was running late, but

         19  alas I could not get cell phone service.

         20                 Disabled Coalition firmly believes

         21  that cell phone service in the subway is a win-win

         22  situation but needs to be expanded from the

         23  currently proposed program.

         24                 While I am one of the first people to

         25  criticize the MTA for doing things wrong, I am also
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          2  one of the first to give them credit when they do

          3  things right.  I come before you today to do both.

          4                 Making cell phone service available

          5  on subway platforms is a good idea and just plain

          6  makes sense, but if millions, if not billions, of

          7  dollars are going to be invested in this project we

          8  should see cell phone service on trains, via wiring

          9  tunnels, not just on platforms.  This is not just a

         10  convenience issue; it is a matter of safety.

         11                 We always hear, if you see something,

         12  say something, but far too often we see something,

         13  but cannot say something because there is no way for

         14  us to do so.  Whether I am stuck on a subway

         15  platform due to a broken elevator, that happens very

         16  often, and there is no intercom working and no other

         17  way for me to get out, and I've been stranded on

         18  platforms for hours where I had to flag down a

         19  conductor and get them to radio for assistance.

         20  Having that cell phone use while stuck on that

         21  subway platform will be a lifesaver.  Additionally,

         22  on a recent subway ride, a passenger on board the

         23  train began to have a seizure in between stations.

         24  I was on the A train where the doors are locked and

         25  there are no intercoms, therefore, giving me no way
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          2  to notify emergency personnel until the train

          3  arrived at the next station.  This was an A express

          4  train which meant that there was a lot of time gap.

          5  Somebody could be seriously injured, killed on the

          6  MTA, be left liable because of these gaps and the

          7  inability to place emergency calls.

          8                 The call for help is essential.  And

          9  neither one of the positions or incidents that I

         10  just presented to you is a hypothetical.  They are

         11  all things that have really happened to me and to

         12  other riders on a daily basis and is why cell phone

         13  service in the subway is so important.  And the

         14  former, being the subway elevator outages, is a far

         15  too frequent occurrence.

         16                 While I was writing testimony last

         17  night I saw a TV ad put out by the MTA proudly

         18  touting that nearly 1,500 people saw something and

         19  said something last year.  Just imagine how much

         20  higher that number could be if people had cell phone

         21  service and could actually call 866 NYC SAFE from

         22  within the subway system, such as when I spotted a

         23  person with a gun on the subway on Friday afternoon

         24  on my way home from work.  I personally have

         25  recently very much diminished the amount of time
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          2  that I spend on a subway. In large part due to

          3  concerns over a lack of communication ability. I had

          4  to start taking express buses more and more.  On the

          5  express bus as long as you keep your volume low, I

          6  have never had anybody complain about me using my

          7  cell phone and quite frankly a lot of other people

          8  do it as well.  It is basically an extension of my

          9  office on my way home.

         10                 Particularly the pay phones being

         11  removed from subway stations, subway cell phone are

         12  a good idea.  It makes sense and will increase

         13  safety for all straphangers, but particularly those

         14  with disabilities who are more prone to encountering

         15  problems, emergencies, or other situations that

         16  could be mitigated by the implementation of full

         17  subway cell phone service.

         18                 If there is an emergency evacuation

         19  and you need to notify someone who's a passenger,

         20  who's in a wheelchair, on or aboard a train or a

         21  platform, it's often the only way.

         22                 Now, in the MTA's testimony they

         23  touched upon a couple issues which I hadn't even

         24  thought of, but I did after they mentioned it.  As

         25  Council Member Koppell mentioned, the Park Avenue
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          2  Tunnel is a nightmare.  I lived in Westchester

          3  county for four and a half years and commuted from

          4  the White Plains Metro- North station into the City

          5  daily.  And everyday I knew the minute I went into

          6  that Park Avenue tunnel I was going to lose my cell

          7  phone service and not get it back until exiting

          8  Grand Central, that I was not going to get service

          9  back until after I was past Harlem 125th Station.

         10  Therefore, path MTA wiring efforts have fully not

         11  been successful and need to be enhanced.  I

         12  personally will go out of my way to use the N or the

         13  Q or the B or the D, just so I can go over the

         14  Manhattan Bridge and have a chance to either have my

         15  text message go through or my email go through or

         16  call my parents and let them know when I'm going to

         17  be home, or where I am, or to be able to check

         18  voicemail.  I've been blocks out of the way just to

         19  have that availability.  Something which is a major

         20  inconvenience and should not be necessary.

         21                 My other big concern with regards to

         22  wiring the subways for cell phones is quite simple.

         23  As you take a look at the Brooklyn Battery tunnel,

         24  which was wired for cell phone service before the

         25  MTA took it over.  When I ride through the Battery
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          2  Tunnel I get a perfectly strong signal on my Verizon

          3  Blackberry, but cannot get a signal at all on my

          4  Sprint Tria (phonetic).  Why is that, because only

          5  Verizon Wireless bought in to cell phone service in

          6  the Battery Tunnel.  And my concern is that you're

          7  going to see the same thing in the subways.  By

          8  having Transit Wireless do the wiring instead of an

          9  actual company, if only Verizon or only Sprint or

         10  only T- Mobile chose to opt in, other customers may

         11  be left with no service or roaming charges added.

         12  So the answer to the question is, yes, there is

         13  potential for additional charges for using your cell

         14  phone in the subway, and, yes, there is a potential

         15  that because you are on Sprint and it's wired for

         16  Verizon that you may not be able to use that

         17  service.  We should take it a lot more seriously

         18  than they seemed to in their testimony today.

         19                 So, I just want to conclude by saying

         20  that we believe that cell phone service on platforms

         21  is a good start.  It shows that the MTA is making a

         22  commitment but it should not be the be all and the

         23  end all.  The entire system should be wired for

         24  service, including on board trains.  In assessing

         25  what stations are wired we would ask that accessible
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          2  stations be considered as a priority solely because

          3  you have more people who may have a medical

          4  emergency going through there and people who may

          5  need to use a cell phone if they are stuck in an

          6  elevator or there is a broken elevator.  So we ask

          7  that the MTA consider, and the Council consider

          8  urging the Transit Authority to give priority to the

          9  stations after the completion of the installation

         10  pilot, if that works out.

         11                 I thank you for your time and welcome

         12  any questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         14  much, Michael, for your testimony, as always.

         15                 MR. HARRIS:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  There being no

         17  other witnesses, this joint hearing of the

         18  Technology in Government and Transportation

         19  Committees of the City Council is adjourned.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 11:51 a.m.)
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